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IN TI{E SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

OCTOBER TERM,2025

COREY SCHIROD SMITH,
Applicant,

v

COMMISSIONER,
AI,ABAI\{A DEPARTM ENT OF CORRE CTIONS,

Respondent.

Application for an Extension of Time
to FiIe a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to the

United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

To the Honorable Clarence Thomas, Associate Justice of the Supreme Court

of the United States and Circuit Justice for the United States Court of Appeals for

the Eleventh Circuit:

Pursuant to Rules 13.5 and 30 of the Rules of this Court, Applicant, Corey

Schirod Smith, respectfully requests a 45-day extension of time within which to file

a petition for a writ of certiorari up to and including Monday, May 22,2025:

1. The jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. S 1254.

2. On December 11, 2024, the United States Court of Appeals for the

Eleventh Circuit affi.rmed the denial and dismissal of Mr. Smith's habeas co{pus

petition. Smith v. Commissioner, Alobamo Deportment of Comectbns,2024WL
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5075281 (1lth Qfu.2024). (attached as Exhibit l). On January 7,2025, the Eleventh

Circuit denied Mr. Smith's petition for panel rehearing. (attached as Exhibit 2).

3. Pursuant to Rules 13.1, 13.3, and 30.1 of the Rules of this Court, a

petition for a writ of certiorari is due to be filed on or before April 7,2025.

In accordance with Rule 13.5, this application is being filed more than l0 days in

advance of the filing date for the petition for a writ of certiorari.

4. This is a capital case in which the death penalty has been imposed. Mr.

Smith is incarcerated at Holman Correctional Facility in Atmore, Alabama. No

execution date has been scheduled in this case.

5. Petitioner's case raises meritorious issues regarding the

constitutionality and reliability of his death sentence. As such, there are compelling

questions about whether the Eleventh Circuit properly affrrmed the denial of his

habeas petition.

6. Undersigned counsel has represented Mr. Smith, pro bono, in this

postconviction matter, for the past 25 years while maintaining an active civil

practice as a member of Weitz & Luxenberg, P.C. Counsel is presently scheduled for

two out-patient cancer surgeries on his head ("Mohs" procedures) on March 3L,2025

and April 7,2025. As such, counsel will not be able to devote sufficient time and will

not have his full capacity necessary to prepare this critical petition.

7. An additional forty-five (45) days is needed to allow counsel to fully

recover from these procedures and prepare a pleading that adequately apprises this

Court of the relevant facts and law in this case.
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For these reasons, Mr. Smith respectfully requests an additional

forty'five (45) days in which to file his petition for writ of certiorari, thereby

changrng to May 22,2025, the date on or by which it must be frled.

Respectfully submitted,

OF RECORD
Weitz & Lrrxenberg, P.C.
?00 Broadway
New York, t{Y 10003

March 17,2025 Coun"sl for Corey Schirod, Smith
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Only thc Wcstlaw ciradon is currcnrly availablc.
United Satcs Court ot'Appcals. Elcvcnth Circuit.

Corcy Sch irod S I'l ITH. Pctitior **r- A ppc I lanr.

COM MISS IONER. A LA BAI.I A DEPART}IE*NT

OF CORRECTIONS. Rcspondcnr-Appcllcc..

No. 2.j- 13583

I

Filcd: l?l l/202.t

Appcal from lhe Llnited States District Court tbr thc Itiddlc
District of Alabama. D.C. Docket No. i:13-cv-004:i7-RAH.
cwB

Attorneys and Law Firms

Jcrrr- \{. Krisurl. \lbitz & Ltxcnbcry. PC. Ncu'York. N\'.lbr
Pctitioncr..{ppcllant-

Hcnry \{. Johnsorr. $"lan llauldin, Edrntrnd (iu'rard LaCotrr.

Jr.. Roben Overing. Alabama Anomey General's Otfrce.

llontgomery. AL. for Respondent-Appel lce.

Bcforc Jordan, Luck. and Abrrdu. ('ircrrit Judgcs.

Opinion

Luck. Circuit Judgc:

*l Corey Scbirod Smith rvanred Kimbcrl;- Brrxrks. thc

mother of his then-one-|r,'ar-old daughter. "lf you cvcr lcavc

mc'. I'll kill you." Hc mc'ant it. Aftc'r leaming that Ms.

Brooks rvas living rvith aurthr.r man. Smith kidnappcd her at

gunpoiut. shot hcr in thc chest and head until he ran out of
ammo. and lcll hcr for dcad in thc woods besid(' an old dirt

ruad. Thcn. aftcr discovcring that \.ts. Brooks sun'ivcd thc

grrnshols. hc tricd to sufl'ocatc hc'r rvith a trash bag. douscd

hcr in gasolinc. and burncd hcr alirc in a pile of trash.

Srnith rva-s convicted and sr,'ntenced to dcath tbr murdcring

!ts. Brooks. He norv appeals thc dcnial of his pctition

for a urir of habc'as corpus undc, Fls U.S.(. \cctien

i25.1- clainring that his trial counscl rvere inctTectivc undcr

l'9ru'kland r. l',lshingttttr. .166 U.S. 6(rt t l9li41. for failing

to invcstigatc cvidcncc of his rnr'ntal hc'alth problems. After

carcful rcvicrv of the briet\ arrd thc rccord. and rvirh rhc

bencfit of oral argumerlt. rvc aflinn.

I. FACTU.,\ L BACKCROU }.D
AT"D PROCEDURAL }IISTORY

.4. The ,\hrder

Ms. Brooks was a scnior at Tallassec. High School in
Tallasscc. Alabama. On the morning of Fcbruary 22. I 995. as

shc u.as puning hcr dau*ghti,.r. Labrcssha Smitlr (Brca). in hcr
clr. Ms. Brooks noticed her ncighbor and schoolmatc trying
to catch thc bus. Ms. Brooks offbred br.'r schoolmatc a ridc ro

:.chool in hcr car.

On their rlay to Tallassee High. !ts. Brooks stoppcd to visit

Brea's fatltcr-Srnith. Shc' wr,'nt insidc Smith's housc rvith

Brea. wbile lter schoolrnat!' \r'cnt to visit his aunl's hotrsc

ruearbl' until \'fs. Brooks rvas ready to hcad lbr school. But

hour after horrr pas.sed. and Ms. Brooks ueter pickcd up her

schrxllmatc l'ronr his aunt's housc.

Smith lrad lcamc.d that Ms. Brooks was in a rr;lationship u'ith

arrothcr man and that shc and Brca rvcrc living rrith hirn. To

makc good on his thrcat that hc'd kill hcr if shc r'vcr lcll hinr

for anothcr man. Smith spokc rvith his cousiu. Sanjay Brooks
(no ,"*lation to Ms. Brooks). Sanjay drove ovcr to Srnith's

housc in his morn's van and brought another one of Smith's

cousirrs. Shontai Smith. 
I

ln thc mcantimc. rrtile Srnith was rsaiting at his housc fior lris

cousins and thc van. hc stanc'd arguing s'ith }ts. Brcoks about

thcir rclationship. Thc'y continucd arguing ouLsidc'. rvhc'rc'

Smith pullctl out his .380 handgurt and pointcd it at Ms.

Brooks. "lWlhcncvci'Smith aryuct u,itlt \{s. Brrroks. as hc

himsclf put it. hc rvould "ahva;-s pull a gun on hr,'r and take

hcr somcu'hcrc and talk" beforc "lct[:ingl lter go."

Bur Smith told his cousins "lhis tirnc [u'als frrr rcal." Oncc

Srnith's cousins pulled up at his housc in thc van. hc pullcd

(he gun on Ms. Brooks and lbrccd hcr insidc it. Smith initialll'
told his cousirr to drivc the van to an abandoncd housc. bctbrc

changirrg corrrse and telling them to hcad lbr a sccludcd arcu

loc'ally knorvn as "Bibb Tos.n." Thcl' stoppcd lhu van ou a

dirr road lcading to a dump. rvlrcrc pcoplc lctl trash likc old

houschold iterns and building materials. Sanjay and Snrith

cxitcd thc van. and Sartjay pullcd Srnith n5ids. a-sking ttt takc

,rti> i -/iJr'
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Smith back home because he should ..not ... be doing this."
But Smith wouldn't listen. lnstead, he went back to rhe van
and, still holding his .3t0, demanded that Ms. Brooks step our
of it.

its lights were on. Undeterred, Smith told his cousins-with
Ms. Brooks still in rhe car-to go back ro the dirt road.

That's whar Smith and his cousins did, driving back ro rhe
dirr road before stopping not far from where Smirh shot Ms.
Brooks. Smith demanded that Ms. Brooks ger our, but she
rcfused. Smith told Shontai to ger her out of the van, and hc
pullcd her out of ir by her arm. After pulling Ms. Brooks our,
Shontai gnbbed rhe jug of gas, plus a trash bag that they had
in the van. Ms. Brooks asked Smith if she could lay down, bur
he wouldn't let her.

With Shontai carrying the gas and rrash bag, Smith held Ms.
Brooks's hand and led her about a hundred yards dorvn rhe

dirt road, until they reached thc trash dump site. That's when
Smith asked Shontai to hand over thc trash bag. Smirh pur rhe

trash bag over Ms. Brooks's head to suffocate her. Ms. Brooks
fought back, and Smith asked Shonrai to hold her hands ro
stop her. After Shontai stepped in, Ms. Brooks again fcll to
the ground.

For a second time, Smith thought that he had successfully

killed Ms. Brooks. To get rid of her body, he took the jug of
gasoline and lighter from Shontai, poured the gasoline on Ms.

Brooks, and set hcr on fire. Once the fire started spreading

out of control to the nearby trash, Smith and Shontai staned

throwing dirt on Ms. Brooks trying to put thc firc out. They

kept picking up dirt and throwing it on her until the fire finally
went out. And then Smith told Shontai to find something ro
wrap Ms. Brooks's body in. Shontai picked up some carpet

from the dump site, and he ud Smith rolled it out, put Ms.

Brooks's body on it, wrapped her, and then left. As they left,
Smith threw the .380 on the ground next to Ms. Brooks.

13 The next day, February 23, Smith called Ms. Brooks's

mom. Smith asked her if she had seen her daughteq saying

that Ms. Brooks had brought Brea over to his house that

morning before leaving in someone's maroon car. Concerned,

Ms. Brooks's mother called the cops and went to Smith's

house. When she got there, Smith repeated his story for what

happened-that Ms. Brooks left in a maroon car. He gave a

similar story to one of Ms. Brooks's friends and the cops, but

identified the car as a red Berena. Smith also told Sanjay that

"if anybody asked, ... tell them that the lady in the red Berena

came and picked [Ms. Brooks] up at the corner store."

But, when Smith was interviewed by oflicen on February

24, he waived his Miranda: rights and wrote a detailed

confession-explaining how he shot Ms. Brooks, nied to

12 After Ms. Brooks left rhe van, Smirh gor angry with her
again, aryuing with her about their relationship like he had

done at his house. He insisted that he ,,love[d] hef'and that
"if [he] couldn't have her[,] no one could." But Ms. Brooks
told Smith that, although she loved him loo,..things wercn,r

the same" anymorc.

That was when Smith had heard enough. He embraced Ms.

Brooks, kissing her on the forchead, beforc pushing her off
of him. He raised the .380 ro her chest and told Sarjay ro
stand back. Then he fired. After Ms. Brooks fell to rhe ground,
clinging to her chest, Smith walked over and shor her again in

the hcad. And he kept pulling the triggcr trying to shoot her,

over and over, but the gun wouldn't fire after the second shot.

Thinking that Ms. Brooks was dead, Smith and Shontai

grabbed Ms. Brooks by her feet and dragged her body away

from the din road, leaving her in the woods. Smith left with
his cousins and told Shontai he necded gasoline to burn Ms.

Brooks's body. After finding some money to buy the gasoline,

Smith went to a nearby gas station and bought enough to fill
ajug.

Night had fallen by the time Smith and his cousins drove back

to the din road with the jug ofgas. As they were heading back

down the dirt road, they saw, to their surprise, Ms. Brooks-
standing on the side of the road, bending over. They sropped

by Ms. Brooks to let her in, and she sat beside Smith. Smith

slarted asking her questions, like if she knew who he and his

cousins were and if she knew what happened to her head.

He also asked her if she wanted to go to the hospital an4 if
she did, how she would describe what happened to her. Ms.

Brooks answered that she wanted to go to the hospital and that

she'd tell them "Corcy shot me."

lnstead of taking Ms. Brooks to the hospital, Smith-in front

of Ms. Brooks-plotted with his cousins on where they should

kill her and dispose of her body. Smith initially instructed

his cousins to drive to the next town over from Tallassee,

Reeltown, because they could burn Ms. Brooks's body behind

a relative's house, talking "about how much grass was around

therc and saying you've got to walk to gct back there." But

Smith ditched that plan once they got to thc house after sccing
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suffocatc hcr. and then btrrned her. Ofiic*s tarcr founrj Ms.
Brooks's bod1,. and an autopsy rcvcaled fluid accumularion
in her lungs. along wirh vrct lining rhc lungs' ainvays-
indicating that Smirh bumcd Ms. Brooks alive and shc rvas
breathing in the smokc.

was home s'irh Smith and his brorhcn. and Robc.rt Charlcs
shorvcd up u'ith a gun. Ms. Fortc told rhe kids to go iu their
room and shut the door.

As for Smith's parcnting of Brea. !ts. Fofte dcscribcd hos..

although shc hclpcd rake carc of Brca on u.cckcnds. Srnith
took carc of hcr rvhen shc. had ro *.ork or was sick. Smith
didnt have a job, brrt he roltl Ms. Forrc rhar he hnd srartcd
taking clas-scs to prcparc lbr rhe GED so rhat he could gct a

job and "bc a bcttcr fathcr."

h. Smith's Srepparents

Both ol'Smith's stcpparcnts-Jchna Srnirlr (his srcpmom) and

Casbie Fortr. (his stcpdad)-also rcsrificd. !ls. Srnith rvcrrr

firsq and shc rcpmrcd that Snritlr had spcc'ch prublcms as a

child-"hc uscd to stuucr" and "didn't ralk plain." "[clvcr
sincc he first startcd talkin-{." Othcr kids "mockcd him" tbr
it. But Smitlr $'?s "tllon* talkativc" rvith Brca and "didu't a-sk

nobody else" for help ch,'aning or l'ccding hcr.

*4 Vr. Fortc cclrocd that Smith rvas a "lklind of quier" kid.
"shrv likc." and hc rvas bullicd for his speech problcrns. But.

Mr. Forrc testified. Smith grcs' up ro bc a caring fathcr to
Brca-"[nlonnall;" lhisl job rvas to givc. hcr a barh and fccd

hcr and gct hcr drcsscd for bcd and play rvirlr hr,.r." Smirh
tunsucccssftrll;" inten'iewed for scveral jobs alic'r Brca rvas

bom to "take care of his kid."

c. Sntith'.s 5r6/ilgs

Four of Srnith's siblings-Rcginald Smith (brorher). Karrinc

Smith (half-sistcr), Chos.on Smith (half-brothcr). and Laricc
Smith (halt'-sistcr)--ravc rcsrimon), rhar !,r.it.s sinrilar to the

stcpparents' teslimony. Reginald testificd that hc "ncvcr"
hcard Smith rct'er to Roben Charles as his "[flathcr." As lbr
Smith's parcnting of Brca. Rr'ginald explaincd rhar Smith.

aftcr tinding out Ms. Bruoks rvas living \rith anothr.r tnan.
"didn't likc thc idca of anothcr man trying to raisc his child."

According to Katrinc. bcftirc Brca rvas born, Smith u'as

"going through a dcprcssion." but aftcr Brc'a u'as born "hc

ofic'n talku'd abottt hos'hc'\r'ould charrgc'his lifc' for his child."
Smitlt told Katrine :lnt "hc ttlt likc' hc'wes losing his child"
t<l !ls. Brqrks's ncl txlvliicnd.

B. Purulty Pha.se

On May 10. 1995. an Alabama grand jury indicrcd Srnirh
for murdcring Ms. Brooks in thc course of a kidnappin*r.

in violation of F.ltnbonra ('odc sccrion l.l,\-5-.{0(aXlt. a

capital offcnsc. After he plcadcd not guilt-r,'. the stare rrial court
sct tre trial for August 2li. 1995. The crial lastcd tir.c da1s.

and thc jury found Smith guilty as charged in rhc iudiomcnr.

l. Pcnalty Phasc Er,idence

The pnalty phase bcgan on Scptcnrbcr 2. tlre day aftcr
the jury rerumcd its vcrdict. During the penalty phase. rrial

counsel prescntcd sixtccn rvitnclses ro testify olr Smith's

bchalf.

o. Eumo Forle

Smith's mothcr. Emma Fone. told rhc. jury abour Smith's

upbringing. Whcn Smith u.as younger. she cxplainc-d. "hc rvas

dilTcrcnt. Hc didn't talk." "And as he grcw olderl.l hc srill had

a spccch prublcm ... l.l till lsicl he wa-s about six or almosr

seven." His spech problem was "[klind of likc a sruttcr." and

othcr kids gave hirn a hard time ovcr it. Although Smith's

specch -cot better as he grew older. his spr,'cch prublcrn causcd

him to "go into his shcll" tbr "lblasicalll,all his life."

Srnith's fathcr. Robcrt Charlcs Smith. rlas mostly absenr-he
didn't support Ms. Fortu or hcr kids financially'. and Ms. Fonc

rcgularl,'- callcd child support sen'ices and u'ent to coun "all
thc timc" to gct him to pitch in. Thc nlost he ever coDtributed

rvas "$ l0 a month." Robcrt Charlcs dcnicd that he rrns Smith's

father altogctlrer until Srnith was fir,e or six.

Besidr.'s uaking Robert Charlc's to court ovcr his lack of
linuncial sup6)rl. !ls. Fortc als<r ttxrk lcgal action against hirn

tbr bcing violcnt toward her. Thcrc rvas ope incident u'hcre he

cut Ms. Fortc lvith a knifc. suarring hcr. which Smith rvasnt

prcscnt for. And thcrc u.as anothcr incidcnt rvhcrc !ts. Fortc
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Chowon helped Smith study for his GED rcsr. When Chowon
saw Smith ouside of srudying, he regularly saw him playing
with Brea "like he'd have her in the bcd or somethingl and]
she'd be jumping around or whalever."

nobody elsc ro raise his kid because they wouldn'r raise [herJ
like he would."

e. Community Members

15 As for the last of the witnesses, Smith,s trial counsel
called four people from the Tallassee community who kncw
Smith-Herbert Woodruff, Arlene Hooks, Rebecca Taunton,
and James Coan.

Mr. Woodruffwas a store manager for thc Tallassee Wal-Mart.
tle testified that Smith applied for a job ar rhe store back in
1994, bul &at was all he knew about Smith.

Ms. Hooks knew Smith because she was dating one of his
brothen. Shc gave more details about Smith uking care of
Bre4 tcstifring that she helped teach Smith "how to warm
her bonles up, how to change her Pamper[s], how to burp her,

how to put her clothes on, [and] how to bathe her."

Ms. Taunton was a local high school teacher who had Smith in

the ninth and tenth gades. ln his tenth grades classes with Ms.

Taunton, Smith "sat in the back of the classroom" and usually
kept "his head on his desk"; he "did nol talk very much."

Finally, Mr. Coan was Smith's linle leaguc baseball coach

when Smith was ten. Despite Smith being "very quiel," he

"made All Stars" and was a "[v]ery hard worker."

f, Other Evidence

Bcsides the wihess testimony, Smith introduced several

records into evidence: court records conoborating that

Smith's father was violent toward Ms. Forre; state agency

records indicating that Smith's fathcr providcd little, if any,

financial suppon to Ms. Forte when Smith was growing up;

and Smith's GED test rcsults (he failed).

The state, for is part, presented one witness-Ms. Brooks's

mother-who testified that she had been taking care of Brea

since the murder. Before the murder, she testifie4 Smith did

not help her or Ms. Brooks take care of Brea nor provide thcm

any financial support.

After considering all of the evidence, the jury, by a vote

of twelve to zero, recommended that Smith be sentenced lo
death.

Latrice saw Chowon an<i Smith studying for the GED
togefter; Smith would ask Chowon questions and they'd
discuss pftlctice test answers. Latrice also described one time
wherc her brother wanted Smith to visit and play video games,

but Smith refused "bccause he was going to keep his baby."

d Aurzt, Urcles, and Cousitts

Five other family members testified for Smirh-the Butlers
(Annie Butler, aunt; Larry Butler, Sr., uncle; and Latasha

Butler, cousin), Merrcll Hayes (cousin), and Jerry Lewis
Tenill(uncle).

Ms. Annie Butler frequently ralked to her sister, Ms. Forte,

about the'tncubles" she had with Robert Charles. There was

one incident in May l98l , when Smith was fifteen, wherc Ms.

Fone anended a baseball game at a local recreation center,

and Robert Charles showed up and pulled a gun on her. Ms.

Butler had also seen Robert Charles pull a gun on Ms. Forte

at Ms. Forte's home. And, another time when Ms. Forte was

visiting Ms. Butler's trailer, Robert Charlcs fircd a gun into

the trailer after demurding that Ms. Forre come outside.

Mr. Butlerwas at the ballpark when Robert Charles threatened

Ms. Fone with the gun. He suspected that Smith heard abour

the incident, but he didnt think that Smith actually saw ir.

Ms. Latasha Butler, a sixth grader at the time, testified that

she was closc to Smith, that Smith was good at making Brea

stop crying, and that Brea meant "[aJ lot" to him.

Mr. Hayes explained that Smith "was a child that was born

into a not-sodesirable social setting," but Smith attended

Sunday school at Mr. Hayes's church until he was around

twelve. Considering what hc saw at the May l98l ball game

-Robert 
Charles thrcatcning Ms. Forre with the gun, yelling

"l just ought to kill you; I ought to kill you"-hc thought that

Smith grew up in a "very violent domestic situation."

When Mr. Tenill testified, he gave his own observalions of
Smith as a father to Bre4 such as one time when he saw

Smith "trying to teach her how to say fish" while looking at

an aquarium. Smith had told Mr. Tenill that "he didn't want
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2. Thc Sentcncing Hcaring

Trvo \igsk5 latcr. on Septcmbcr 14, the statc rrial court hetd a
hcaring to impose Smith's scntcnce.

The starc. rrial coun bcgan by finding rhar rhc statr. had
pro\:cn two aggravating tbctors bcyond a rcasonable doubr.
rvhich "can[iedl grcat r.r,cight": (l) Srnirh commitred murdcr
while engagctl in thc acr of kiduapping in rhc first dc.grcc.

f-r
se<r PAlu. (txlc r\ ljA-5-49(4): and (?) rltr' tnurdsr $,as

particularly hcinous. atrociol.ts. and crucl s'lren cornparr.t to

other ofl'cnsc.. .r"o Fr,r. i l.iA--i-.l9tl{). Smirh cornmittcd
murdc'r rvhilc engaged in a kidnapping. rhe srar!. rrial court
r'xplaincd. because he abductcd \ls. Brooks u,hc.n lrr.. fonscd

her into thr. van at gunpoint and took hr,'r ao Bibh Toun ro kill
her. Thr:n. hc aMuctcd Ms. Brooks again aftcr finding drar

shc sun'ivcd thc grrnshots. drivirrg hcr around for "a numbcr

of rniles" betbre forcing hcr to salk a hundred ,vards to rhc

dump site.

.{s for wh;.. Srnitlr's nrurdcr was particularl;- hr,.inous.

atrocious. andcnrcl, thc stuc trial coun explained that bcsides

shooting Ms. Brooks nvicc. Smith rerunred to find hc.r alivc
and passrrl on thc chancc to save her life by taking hcr ro
thc hospital. Tlren hc drorc around rvith his cousins rvith !ls.
Broolis in the car. s'hile she was listcnirrg to Srnith discuss

rvhere they should kill hr'r and bunr hcr hxly. "Slrc u,as

consciotts. and therc rvas no rcason rvh;- shc could n<x hcar thc

disctssions" Smith was having rvith his cousins. And. "[alfrer
thc long ridc. shc s,as pullcd tiom thc caC'and Snrith forced

lrcr to rvalk a hundrcd yards to thc rrash dump. whcrc Smith

sutl'tratcd hcr rvith a plastic bag beforc pouring gasolirrc. on

hcr and burning hcr alive.

*6 Ttmting to thr,' ntitigating circumsznccs. thc' statc trial

court folurd that Smith had provcn nvo slatutorv- oncs: ( I ) hc

had no significant history of prior crirninal activit). (u'hich

tlte state rial courr lburd rvas "cxtrcmcl) u.cak"); and (2)

hc rvas cighlccn at tlrc timc trf thc murdcr ('\cak"). See

Ala. ( otlc \ l.'iA-5-51( l). (l). lt scparalcly lbund that nvo

slanrtory mitigating circumstanccs rclating to Smith's lncntal

hcalth didn't apply: ( I ) thc mtrrder rvas cornrnittct undc'r thc

influcrcc of cxtrcnrc nrcntal or cmotional disnrrbancc: and (2)

Smith's capacity to apprcciatc thc crinrinalit;- of his couduct

and confrrnn it to thc larv u.as subsrantiallf impairc<t. ' .Sec

,r"l S l3A-i-S lf I r. (6).

.{s tbr the !.xtrcmc mental or crnorional disturbancc factor.
thc statc trial corm cxplaincd that ..[tlhcrc r\.as tro cxpcn
lestimon)' that tendcd to shos. ISmithl was undcr thr..

influcncc of extreme Imcntall or emotional disnrrbancc." nur
an).expert testimony that hr,. rvas mcntally ill. tsut. thc srar!,
trial court acknorvlcd*ted. rhc cr.idcnce "probabtl, poinrlcdl
to tbr'conclusion that lSnrithl u,as cxperiencing considcrablc.
cmotional rlistrcss becausc of his rclationship rvith IMs.l
Bnxrks." To rhe c.\tcnt hc sas "experienc[ingl some dr'grcc
of crnotional distrr,'ss." that fact u.as crrtitlc.d to "littlc or no
rvcight" bccausc "emotional distrcss of tlris ty,pc is thc fcrtilc
and frequeut breeding ground for crirninal intcnr."

Tbc'n. as for Smirh's abiliry- to apprcciare his couducfs
criminality and corrfi.rnn it ro rhe las'. his *initial <lenial of his
involvcmcnt in the killing. his construction of an altenratir.c
thcory tbr hcrdisappearancc. Iandl his concocrion ofa srory ...

of a rcd Berctta." all shorvc{ thar hc appreciated rhat his

conduct rvas crilninal.

ln addition to lhc statutory mitigating circumsranccs. rhc

state trial court tbund Smith had provL.n scvcra! non-starutory
miti,tating circurnstancr,'s. but thcsc circumstanccs \\ere

cntitled to lirle rnitigating s'eight. if any: (l) Smith's fathr..r.

Roben Charlc's. abused lris mothcr b1, cutting. shootirrg. and

fightiug u'ith her: (l) Srnitn rvas bullicd s'hcn hc lvas )-oung
for har,ing a spccrh impctlimcnt. u,hich causcd hirn to be

rvithdrarvn and quic'r (-3) hc u'as a gcvd bascball pla."-cr

rvhcn hc rva-s ninc or tcn: (4) hc made some effort. but not a

substantial or rnatcrial cftbn. to maintain a relationship u'ith
Brca and supfrrt hcr. likc b;" appl_'"ing for jobs and taking
thc GED: (5) hc confr:sscd to thc nrurdcr rvithin nvenr;*-four

hours an<J hclpd authoritics find },ls. Brooks's brxlr-: and (6)

his lirmily and mcmbcrs of thc conrmunit)' loved and carc.d

lbr him.

After wcighing thc aggmr,ating factors against thr.. mitigating
circumstancc's. and taking tbe jury's rccornrncndation into

account. the state trial corrt found that the aggravating factors

"far ounvcigh[edl thc mitigatirrg circurns(anccs." Thus. it
scfltr'rrcod Smid to deatlr.

Srnitlr appc'alcrl his c<lnviction and dcath scnlcncc to thc

statc appcllatc court. rvhich aflinncd. .Srrrrr/i r. .i'trrrr'. lul
So.2d -i().i.5{r (Ala. ('rrr:r. Ap1-..:{X){)). Both thc.{labarna

Suprcmc Court ancl tjnitctl Statcs Srrprcmc Courl dcnicd

Smith's pctitions tbr a rvrit of ccrtiorari. Ex porrt.Srrrrlir. lt):
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Ms. Hammock was a clinical social worker. She performed
a biopsychosocial assessment on Smith, which .,is a
professional social work tool for garhering information
on a [subjecl]," like "information about the biological or
physical, the psychology or behavioral, and social history"
of the subject. Her assessment included interviewing twenty-
seven people rvho knew Smith as he was growing up, like
friends and family. It also included rcvicwing Smith,s school,
medical, and legal rccords.

Based on her assessment, Ms. Hammock opined that
Smith came from a background of "considerable violence,
deprivation, family panerns of violence toward each other...,
considerable povery, lack of resources for the family
to survive, and a generational panern of difticuhies in
meeting basic nccds"-allof which negarively impacted his
development. Snrtingwith Ms. Fone's pregnancy with Smith,
Ms. Hammock explained that Ms. Forte "drank and smoked
continuously throughout ... [Smith'sJ geslation." And Smith
had a rough birth-"[i]t was a li)rcci)s deiirery," he was

"on the borderline of undenreight[,] [r]he umbilical cord
was wrapped around [hisJ head times four," and "[ilt [wa]s
suspected that therc was some trauma connected with th[eJ
particular delivery."

After Smith was born, he grew up in a home without enough

food to go around between him and his brothcr. He was also

slow to develop-for example, he sat up late, "[w]as slow
to walk," and his speech was "diflicult." "[Tlhere [we]re
frequent figh6" between his mom and dad, which included

"some shootings[ and] some srabbings" that Smith didn't
witness, and morc fights between his mom and father. There

were times wherc Ms. Forte was physically and verbally

abusive to Smith, calling him names and yelling epithets at

him. She hit Smith "with anything she could ger her hands

on," like an iron cord. Smith was also beaten by his brother.

According to Ms. Hammock, around when Smith rurned nine,

and into his teen years, Smith rurned to substance abuse. He

started out drinking beer and rum beforr opting for wine, and

he was drinking daily at school by the time hc was thirteen.

Smith also picked up smoking marijuana that he laced with
embalming fluid and crack cocaine, in addition to snorting

cocaine. During this period of substancc abuse, he struggled

with his fine motor skills, sleeping, and academics.

C. State Habeas Proceedings

*7 Smith moved for postconviction relief under Alabama
Rule of Criminal Procedure 32. He alleged that his trial
counsel werc constitutionally ineffective under Srr'cl/and for
failing to investigate evidence of his mental health problems
at the time of the murder. Those problems, Smith asserted,

were that he had "[plost-[r]raumatic lsJtress disorder ...

associated with abuse and neglect during childhood,",,[ploly-

[sJubstance [albuse," "frontal and temporal lobc impairment,
brain damage[,] and a mood disorder." Smith contended that
his rial counsel found "red flags" indicating that he had these
pmblems, like a report that he "had seen a psychiarist in
his early adolescence" and "complained of 'mencal problems'
rvhile in pre-trial detention," but "did nothing wirh this
information" and failed to prcscnt any expert wimesses. And,
"[a]t the time of the offense, ... Smith suffered from a family
history that includcd inrer-generational violence," such as his
father's abuse of his mother.

l. The Evidentiary Hearings

The rule 32 court held two evidentiary hearings on Smith's
postconviction motion, where he and the state both presentcd

evidence about his upbringing and experr lesrimony abour

how it affected his mental health.

a Smilh's Trial Counsel

Both of Smith's trial anomeys-Palmer Singleton and Lee

Sims-testified that they did not consult any expcrts about

Smith's mental state during the crime, and they generally

didn't investigate whether Smith's judgmcnr was impaired

by his substance abuse, extreme emotional distress, pr.-rsi-

rrau rn ar ic srrcss d i sordcr, or other psychological impairmens.
Mr. Sims added that, whcn hc fint met Smith, "[Smith] didnt
seem right" because "[Smithl didnt connect with the facts of
the world and the reality he was in."

b. Mg Hammock
c. Dr. Maher
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*t Dr. Maher testified that he performed a mennl
health examination of Smith in June 2002. As pan of his
examinalion, Dr. Maher "did a psychianic intcrview and
history[,] as well as a psychiatric exam,. and ,.rcview[edJ

a substantial quantity of rccords related to past history,
including medical records, school records, legal rccords,
and social service or social environment tecords." He also
reviewed the tests and findings of the oher experts, like Ms.
Harnmock's findings about Smith's background.

including in 1995. Dr. Golden explained that ,.executive

functionin$' is "a very broad term that represcnts a
wholc series of skills that generally develop tarer in life,"
like planning oryanizarion, flexibiliry, insighr" ..ability to
anticipate conse4uenees of behavior," solving unfamiliar
problems, and coming up wirh unique ideas. .,[O]veralt," it
referc to "the effective running of thc adult brain" and the
presence ofthcse skills captures "[tJhe difference between an

adult and a child." And "borderline" rcfers to "someone rvho

is not normal" "in terms of intelligcnce," bul not to the point
that he's mentally disabled.

Dr. Golden thought rhat" in 1995, Smith's psychological

impairments affected his judgment, diminished his abiliry ro
conform his conduct to the law and conrol impulses, and

hindered his ability to recognize the consequences of his

actions. Similar to Dr. Maher, Dr. Golden also concluded that,

although Smith was eightecn in 1995, "[hle would have been

functioning emotionally from a fr,ontal lobe point of view like
a [ten-] to [twelve]-year-old." "And even thal," Dr. Golden

continue4 "[wa]s a conservative estimation of the impact of
the damage."

e. Dn King

19 For itr prrq the state presented Dr. King, a clinical
psychologist. Dr. King evaluated Smith in May 2005,

through a twoday clinical interview that lasted four or
five hours each day. He administered the Halstead-Reitan

r.*europsychological Test Bauery, a series of tests that "look
at what kind of cognitive fundions r€main," and the Wide

Range Achievement Test, a screening device used to gauge

one's academic performance level. Dr. King also reviewed a

variety of records, such as the trial ranscripts and Smith's

confession, school rccords, and the records relied on by the

other expens.

As pan of the Halstead-Reitan banery, Dr. Kingadministered

lhe \\ji'ch51.''' ..\dult lrtir'lligertcc [r'si. Dr. King explained

that, although the results of his administration of the test

appearcd similar to those from Dr. Golden's, the results were

not "basically the same" because Dr. King thought Smith

might've scored higher "in terms of lQ" on Dr. Golden's tcst

"if some of the subtess had been administered correctly."

To gauge Smith's cognitive and executive functioning, Dr.

King administered the Tactual Performance Tesl, which

included requiring Smith to connect circles in a certain

Based on the evaluation, Dr. Maher opined that Smith
"suffer[edl from a variery of impairmenB" in 1995: posr-

trilinratic strcss disordc;', poly-substance abusc, "brain

impairmens associated rvith diffi,rse brain damage or
abnormalities that were present at birth," and "a rionral

lobe sl ndronre affecting executive functioning." As for what
caused these conditions, Dr. Maher pointed to Ms. Fone's

drinkingwhile pregnant, which "is an absolutely proven cause

of brain damage," Smi&'s rough birth, his being exposed to

domestic violence, his adolescent substance abuse, and his

acadcmic failures. Dr. Maher also agreed that the hct thar

Smith inhaled gasoline fumes could cause brain damage.

Smith's conditions, in Dr. Matrer's view, impaired his
judgment in 1995, his ability to appreciate the wrongfulness

of murdering Ms. Brooks. and his ability to conform his

behavior to the law. They also hindered Smith's emotional

development, making him "much less mature" than his actual

age in 1995 (eighteen) would've indicated. Specifically, Dr.

Maher thought that Smith "was functioning at the level of
a child of preadolescent or early adolescent age, [welve] to

[fourteenJ years of age."

d Dr. Golden

Dr. Golden, a psychologist, 'did a series of psychological

and neuropsychological lests" in October 2003, "aimed at

evaluating the main areas of anention, memory and executive

function, as well as pcrsonality functioning in ... Smilh." For

example, he administcred the \\'cclrslcr .\dulr lntcliigcrrcc

Tc'st and the Rorschach ink blor tcst. And, like Dr. Maher, Dr.

Golden also reviewed various records and Ms. Hammock's

findings.

As for what his evalualion showed, Dr. Golden opined that

"Smith's bnin [wa]s functioning at a borderline level with
particular deficis in terms of academic reading skills and

arithmetic skills and in terms of cxecutive functioning"
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sequence as fast and mistake-free as possiblc. This tesr,
according to Dr. King, is a ,,valid, reliabte measure of
executive functioning and relare[s] well to idenri$ing brain
impairment." Smith "did vely well" and scored ..within

normal limits."

been exposed to others' abuse when younger, but emphasized
that "[i]t ha[d] to arise ro rhc level of dearh or threatened
serious physical injury." He also explained that neither Smith
nor anyone else rcported that Smith suffered the disorde/s
symptoms, likc "persistent reliving of ... the naumatic event"
and "avoidance" ofthe area where il occuned.

rl0 Dr. King acknowledged that Smith had some.,substance
abuse issues" at the timc of &e murder. But, in his view.
Smith's drug and alcohol use did nor impair his ability ro
appreciate the wrongfulness of his conducr. Nor did Smith
lack the ability to apprcciare the vnongfulncss of his crime,
generally.

To be sure, Smith was "probably" immaturc for his age at
the time of the offense, but Dr. King was "not sure [he]
would agree with" Dr. Maher's conclusion that Smith was

emotionally immature at that time. Smith "may havc been

sufferin$' from "somc [emotionall distress" around the time
of the murder, too, but Dr. King was "not sure" that he'd

categorize it as "exueme."

f Smith's Former Teachers

The state also prcsented two of Smith's former teachers-
Karen Whitc and John Wilcox-who testified about their
observations of Smith when he was in school. Ms. White

was Smilh's English teacher in middle school. She testified

that she didn't remember Smith ever coming to class with
visible bruiscs or broken bones, and she never suspected that

he was being abused. She also never saw Smith drink alcohol
at school or appear intoxicated.

Mr. Wilcox taught Smith's ninth grade Alabama history class.

He remembered Smith anending class on a regular basis

and didnt remember seeing any signs that Smith rvas being
physically abused, or that Smith was abusing alcohol and

drugs.

2. The Rule 32 Court Denied Smith's

Motion for Postconviction Relief

Afterthe evidentiary hearing, the rule 32 court denied Smith's

motion for postconviction relief. It concluded that, even if
trial counsel pcrformed deficiently by failing to investigate

evidence of Smith's mental health, the deficient performance

didnt prcjudice Smith's penalty phasc result for two r€asons.

Unlike Dr. Golden, Dr. King did not administer rhe Ronchach
ink blot tesr. In Dr. King's view, the Ronchacir rcsl is not a
valid or reliable test for assessing extreme emotional distress,
diffuse brain d1 sl'uncrion, posr-rraurlatic slrcss clisordr".r,

depression, or poly-subsunce abuse. Even puning that aside,
Dr. King opined that Dr. Golden did not record the lesr rcsults
properly because there w.rs no rccord of Dr. Golden inquiring
about Smith's responses. Dr. King didn't "have [rhe] foggiest

notion how he scored it."

Dr. King also "found [a] number of inconsistencies" in Ms.

Hammock's findings. Although Ms. Hammock concluded

that "Smith was the product of poverty and chaos and his
home life was bad, land he] had no sccess ro resources for
menlal health, medical treatment, things of that nature," Ms.

Hammock also found that Smith regularly took headache

medication, "had his ovm bedroom in his own house," and

had access to *a dirt bike and a four wheeler, which doesn't

sound like poverty." Ms. Hammock funher noted that Smith
was taken to doctors "numerous times" for things like fcvcrs

and earaches, "which also sounds like he certainly had access

to parental support for gening medical rcatment."

"[OJverall," Dr. King concluded that Smith "functions in the

low-average to high-borderlinc range of intellectual ability."
He "found no real evidcncc for any kind of focal brain damage

or anylhing like that by history, by [Smith's] reports, or by

[Smith's] test data-" And hc expressly "disagree[dl" wirh any

diagnosis of frontal or temporal lobe damage to Smith's brain

because he "found no evidence to indicate frontal or temporal

lobe damage orany kind of brain damage." Dr. King"d[id]n't
necessarily agree" with the statement that the cumulative

effect of multiple hcacl injurics could cause brain damage.

lnstea4 Dr. King's findings indicated that Smith "has lower

intellectual functioning with probably some tjrsicril and

some leaming disabilities." "[O]thenvise he is normal." Dr.

King further opined that Smith does not have po\t-tr.rirn:aric

strcss rlisordcr and didn't have it at the time of the offense.

Dr. King explained that the disorde/s onset is caused by a

"traumatic event" like a death or threat of death or serious

injury. But Dr. King "kn[e]w of no circurnslance" that could

be so raumatic. He acknowledged that Smith may have
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Fint, thc rule 32 court concluded thcrc \r..as no rcasonable
probabiliq.' rhut Smith's mental hcalrh resrimony l'rom the rulc
i2 hearing u'ould've alterul thc slate irial crrurt,s balancing
of thc aggravating and rnirigating circumsranccs bccausc. thc
tcstimony wasn'r crcdible. Thc rule 32 courr cxplained thar
it "[couldlnot credir Dr. ]taher's tcsritnon)- that Smith sas
suffcring frorn [plost[tlraumatic Is]rcss [dlisorder and brain
darnagc at thc timc of the oflbnsc or Dr. Golden's rcstimon),

that Srnitb u'as sufl'cring from brain damagc at rhc tirne
of thc otTense." That rvas becausc "Dr. King's tcstimony
that Srnirh nevcr has suffcrcd t'rom lplosr[tlraurnaric Islners
ldlisorder. functions in thc high-bordcrlinc to low-a\.eragc

range of intcllcctual funcrioning. probabl;- suffers frorn
lc'aruing disabi|itics. and othc'ru.isc firncrions normally Irva|s
supportcd by thc cvidcnce irr tlre nucord." so thc rule i2 coun
"crcditl cd I his testirnony" instcad.

Second. evcn putting asidc the credibilary- probh..rn. lhc nrlc.

32 court concludcd frere rsa-s no rcasonablu probability rhat

thc'mcntal hcalth trxtimon;- (or additional eyid!.ncc of Smith's
backgr<rurd) rvould'r'c madc a dilTerence "[iln liglrr ol rhc

brutal nattrc of the crime." The statc trial court had lbund tr,r o

significant aggravating factors. and "lclvidc.ncc of ISmith'sl
allcgcd rncntal problems rvould rlot havc altc,"*d. diminishcd.

or rudermined Ithcml."

3. The Statc'Appcllatc Court Atfirmcd thc Dcnial

of Srnitlr's \'lolion ftrr Postconr,iction Relicf

Tltc statc' app-llatc coun atlirmcd thc nrlc 32 coun's denial

of Smith's rnotion for postconviction rclicf bccausc. assuming

his trialcourtscl pcrformcd dcficicntly in failing to invcritigatc

mc'ntal hculth cvidcncc. "Smith failcd t<.r mcct tlre prejudice

prong of the Srickland tcst." Sarill r: .Strrrt. l2l So. .;d 2:4.
2:i9 (..\la. ('rim. App. l0ll): .r'ee rrl. at 2i6-3(). Thr,'statc

appcllate coun found that "thr,'expert testirnorry concerning

Smith's meotal hcalth rvas to a largc' cxtcnt contro\,crtcd

by lDr. Kingl." rri. at 2.lli. rvho "di:ngrccd rvith thc rnajor

diagnoses exprcssed by Srnith's r'xpr'rts." e/. ut 2i(.. Aud to
thc cxtcnt that Smith's poslconviclion cvidr'ncc "conccrnlcd I

Smith's lhrnily and his upbringiug." thc statc appcllatc court

found that "ltlhc vast majoritl'of thc tcstimonJ-" rr&s mcrcly

crrmulatir,c of trxtirnrrny t'rrorn "the lsirtcenl rvitncsses who

tcstificd during thc pcnalB" phass'." /r/. at Iil.. Thus. in light of
the siErificant aggravating circumstanccs found by' the *at,,'

trial court. thc stats' appellatc coun \?s "confident ... that

prcsenting ('\'idcnce of Smith's rnental hc'altlr. u{rich u'as in

largc pan disputcd by IDr. Kingl. and ovcn morc evidcncc of
his upbringing. u,ould ha[vcl had no impacr on the resulr[ | in
thc penalqv pharc." /r,t at 1.i9.

D. Fcdcral l'lahe<u Pdition

rlt Alicr unsucce;sfully moving tbr posrconvicrion relief in
thc state couns. Smitlr pctitioned the disrrict coun for fc.deral

raa

habcas r"*lief undr,r l-lS ( .S.('. surtion 2lS.l. Hc allc,ccd
that tlrc state appr'llatc court's dcuial of his claim x,as bascd

en n\o unreasonablc dctcrminatiorr of th,,' facts: (l) "rhc
tcstimouy of his mcntal hcalth cxpcns ar rhc Inrlc -321 hcarin,c

rvas'cumulativc'of thc tcstinlony of thc lay s,irncsscs at thc
pcnalqv lphascl hcaring": and (2) "thc csidcncc l'rom Ihisl
nterttal health cxpcrts 'rvas to a large ex(cn( coutrovcrtcd' "
b,'- Dr. King's tcstimonl'. Thcsc rs'o thcrual t'indings. Smith
contcndcd. causcd the sratc appellate court to unrcavlnabl,*-

apply .5'tnc*/aad's prcjudicc standard \.hcn dsrcrminirrg that

llrcrc was no rcasonablc probabilitl, thar rhe m!.ntal hcaltlr

c'xpcrls' tcstimon;- u'ould'r'c undennined thc aggravadng

circtrmstanccs.

Thc district court denicd Srnirh's pcririort. bcginning its
anal,'-sis u,ith thc nvo allegcdl,v unreasouable factual lindings.

As lbr thc statr'appcllarc court's purportcd finding thar rlrc

nrcntal hcalth tcstimony s.ould'r'c becn cumulatir,c of thc

penalry phasc o'vidcuco. thc district court cxplaincd that
"Smith misreadf lthc lstatc appcllatc courtl's opinion." Thc

state appellate court's curnulativcncss linding u,as linritcd

to ctidr'nc!' "utncenting Suithk fumih' ond his uphringing"
prescnted during thc rulc 32 hcarings. not alxrut "thc

rnental health expens' opinions rcganling his mcntal hcalth

cortditions."

.{s for thc slatc appcllatc corrrt's tinding that Snriths' nrerrtal

hculth cxpcrts' tcstimon;- was "tro a laryc cxtcnt controvcned"

b;- Dr. King's. thc disnict coun concluded the finding u'asn't

unrcasonable. Although the expens "nray hate agrccd ...

about sornc mattcrs." thcir "opirrions about [thcl allcgcd

major rncntal hcalth <liagnoses rrerc conflicting."

Bccausc thc stalc appcllalc coun didn't unrcasonably

dctcrminc thc lhcts. thc district cotrrt applicd Antitcrrorism

and Effective Dcath Penalq' Act (AEDPA) dc't'crcnce

Itr its ovcrall dr'tcnnination that Snrith failcd to shorv

Stricklun<l prcjudicc. And that dctc'rmirratiou. rhc district
court concludr.d. \\'rrsn't unrcasouablc considcring thc

aggravating factors of Smith's crimc.
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Although thc disrricr courr denied a ccrtificarc of
appcalabiliq.. rve grantcd euc as to rvhcrhcr rhr. starc appcllatc
court unrcasonably applied iri<,kland by dctermining thar
Srnith suffered no prcjudicr,'from his trial couuscl's failure to
investigatc his menal hcalth problems.

II. STAI"D..\RD OF REVIE\T

We revic'w dc novo a district court's dcnial of fdc'ral habcas

rclicf. FSe,, rs t' llitnlcn (;D(;P. ?li F.4th I l(r9. 12r9 ( I l.h
('ir. 2021i t.

III. DISCUSSIOI

Because Srnith's habeas clainr sas adjudicarul on thc m*ils
by thc statc appllate court' \lc must rv*vic$, that c(rurt's

decision under AEDPA's " 'highly' detbrential' srandards."

FI P,.r r, Ilu r<l e n. Gu. Dia ilw t.t t i<. Pri srt n -5(! F.-ft h 1 015. l t)-i{

(llrh ('ir. 20?2) (cn banc) (quoting Fn,r'rr r: ..{-r'c/a. 5?6

U.S. 25?. l(r9 il(ll5)). "Undcr thosc standards. $'e ma)- not

grant thc rvrit unlc'ss rhc sratc court's 'adjudication of thc.

clairn... (l) rcsrrltcd in a decision that u'as contrary to. or
involvct an unrcflsonable application of. clcarly csrablishcd

[flcdcral larv ...: qr (2) rcstrlted in a dccision that was bascrl

on an unreasonable dr,{c"nnination of thc facts in light of
thc cridence presented in thc [sJatc court prucccding." /d.

(quoting f 2s ti.S.c. S t25{(d)).

To show tlmt a statc courl unrcasonably applied clcarly
cstablished l'cdcral lan'. thc pctitioncr "mrst shos' far rnorc'

than that thc state coun's decision rvas rnerely wrong or
cvcn clcar crror." Id. (quoting.S/riarr r: Ku1er. 59: L'.S. II l.
lls (202())). lnstead. he'fnust shorv that thc state court's

decision is so obviously srong that its crror lics 'bcyond any

possibilig' for fairmindcd disrgrccmcnt.' " .!hi;u.'. -\9: U.S.
|\r

at llS (quotingl-Jllurring!('tt \'. Rt(ht.,r. .56: Lj.S. ti(r. l0.i
f-r

tlt)l I )): c-l.f'llan'iuy4trn.562 t.:.S. ar l(12 ("lf this standartJ

is dillicult to mcct. that is bcrcausc it was m!'ant to bc.").

rl2 "Whcn it corncs to facrual detcrminations. 'lslratc court

fact-findings arc cntitlcd to a presunlption of corctmcss

rmless the petitioner rebuts that prcsumption b.v clear and

convincing cvidcncc.' " ts4". S() I:.,tth :rr lo.l{ (qur;ting

<'onn.rr v. (iD(P llhrcten. ?li.l F.jd t52. :(ri (lith ('ir.
:01-i)): sae l-Jls u.s.(.'. s 21S-ltc'[lr. And ..r.\.cn if a

pctitioncr succcssfully carries his burdcn under lFsccri<,n;
2:.i4{L'X ! r-showing by clcar and convincing cvidence rhar
a panicul:u statc-court factual dctcrmination tvas $Tonvg-

hc does not ncrcssarily mccr his burdcn under lF.coionl
1254(dtt2):" sborving thar "thc stare courl's .dccision' u'os
'bascd on' an 'unrcasonablc detennination of thc facts.' "
l--r
l--Prr.. -i0 F.{rh ar !0.i_s (quoring lr2ti t .S.('. \ :lS{(dXl)).

On top of AEDPA's defererrtial stBndards of revie*:
Str&*/rarl "irsc.lf placa; a demanding burdcn on a conr.icred

defendant to sho$' that he u'as prejudicul by his c<runsel's

dciicicnt pcrlbnnancc." FLi ar l0{1. ln rhc capital

scntcncing contcxt. shos.ing prcjudicc mcans esrablishirtg
that. "abscnt [counxl'sl eros." "lhcrc is a rcasonablc
probabilir.v- rhat ... the sentencer ... rvould havc concluded
that thc balancc of aggravating and lniti-eating circumstances

did not \r.'amnt death."'fhorncil y'..lon(s. lJ4 S. Cr. li0l.
l.llrl (202.1) (quoting F9rilkkintL 46(r (..S. at (r95). A
"rcasonable probability" is onc. that\ "sutlicicnt to undcmrinc
conlidcncc in thc orrtcomc .., [.I rcquir[ingl a subsrantial. not
jtst conccivablc. likelihood of a diffc.rent result." /r/. (quoting

F(r,rio,, v Piuhttlstar.56.l L:.S. i:{). l{19 ( 20I I )).

"Applyin-s AEDPA to Stric'klund's prcjudicc standard. rvc

must dccidc rvhcthcr thc statc Iappellarcl courts conclusion
that [trial cormscll's pcrformancc at the scntencing phax
of [Smithl's trial didnl prcjudicc him-that rhere l,as
no 'substantial likclihood' of a different result-was 'so

obuiously rvrung that its crrtrr lics beyoud an,v possibiliry

lbr l'airminrlcd dixgr'-cmcn,."' FPru,. 5{) F.4th at l(H l--ll
(quoting .!irrur. 591 ( .S. ar I ls).

Srnith contcnds tlrat the state appcllate coun's dcrcision-
concluding tbat an)" dt'ficient mc'ntal-hcalth invcstigation

b1' his trial counsr'l did not pn"judicc. his pc'nalt1. phasc

under Srrrcftlcnr,/-was t/ral wrong. so u'c' should rcr,icrv lris

claim de novo. But rvc disagrcr:. Thc statc appr'llatr' courr

didn'l unrr,'asorrably firrd that Smith's cxpcrt mcntal hcalth

leslimon), u'as largell' cotltrovl'rtsd by Dr. King's. And its
dctemriuation that thcrc rr'a\ no rcasonabft". probability of a

dift'crc'nl r"-sult had thc coutruvcrttxJ tcstirnony bccn prtscntcd

\l'asD'l unrcasonablc.
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A. The Sate.4ppcllate C'ourt Didn1 Linruasonabl1,

Find Thut Evidence o.f Snirh's Fauil.,- and l;phringing
u'as trlcrcly C)uunilative of llis Lq. ll'itness Testinonl,

As a thrc:shold tnancr. Smith maintains rhat thc statc appcllarc
coun unrc?sonabll' dctcrrnined rhc facts by finding rhat
cvideuce of his meutal hcukh impairmcns u,as ,.mcrcty

cunrulativc$ of his lay witncss tcstitnon)' during the penalr,,-.

phasc. But u'c agrcr with thc districr court that the statc
appcllatc corm rnadc no finding that thc posrconviction
cvidence of his mcntal health impairments was .rncrcly

curnulatir,c" of the lay rvitncsr testimony- lnstcad. the
statc appcllatc coun lbund that "[tlhe vast rnajorir,"-. of rhc
tcstimony conccming Srn ith's.lznil1, a nd h i s upbri ngi ng" -not his mental hcalth-rvas merell, cumularir,e of thc la1'

u'ihcss tcsrimony. Snutlt. ll2 So. jd ar l.lr, (cmphasis

added). .{s for that finding. we cannot say ir rvas clcarl;-
aud convincingl,"- srong considcring thc cxtensir.e tesimrmy
frorn thc sixtccn la."- rvitnesses about Srnith's upbringing.

B. Thc Stote Appclktte Coun Didil't
Unreasonobll' Find Thut Sntith's F-rpert

Testintony llos Latgely Controverkld fu' Dr King

*13 Thl' sh(c appcllatc court began irs Srrr<*/and prcjudicc
analysis by' finding that Srnith's expen mcnral-hcalrh

tcstimou;- t'rorn tlre nrlc 32 hcaring "\\as to a largc cxtcnt
coutro\,c'rtcd by IDr. King's1." ft/. \tt cannor say rhis tinding
was clcarll' and convincingly urong (or. lbr that maner.

--
rurrca-sonable). .kcz t--2.t U.S.('. .s 1254(d)(2). l-'-rct( I l:

FPro. 50 F..trh ar l(t.l.l-.l-i.

Aftr'r evaluating Smith. Dr. Mahcr opincd rhar. in 1995. Srnirh

su ffered frorn pos t - t r.runrat i c strL\s d i so rdc r. pol1.'-substancc

abuse. and "ditTusc brain danragc." contributing to Smith's

"liorrtul loirc syndrornc affecting ('xecutivc functiorring."
Thcsc conditions. in Dr. llahcr's vierv. impaircd Smith's
judgment leading up to tlrc' munlcr. madc him unable. ro

apprcciatc thc rvmngfulncss of murtlcring !ls. Brooks. and

hindered his ability to conform his bchar,ior to thc lau,. They

also madc' Smith "rnuch lcss maturc" than his acntal age of
eighteen-rnorc likc a child of "lts'clvcl tu Ilburtccnl .v-eani

of agc."

Similarll.. Dr. Goldcn. after administ!'ring tcsts likc' thc

\\tclrslcr Adtrlt lntclligdlrcc lcs( and Roruc'lrach ink hltrr rs.sr.

opined that Smith's brain functioning rvas ..bordc.rlinc.'-<r

'lrot normal in tr.rms of intelligencc"-rvith particular defrcirs
in his c'x!.cutive functionin*1. Thesc tlcficit-s. accor<ting to
Dr. Goldcn. inrpairc.d Smith's judgrncnr in 1995. diminishccl
his abilir,'- to confonn his con<tuct to thc larv and conrot
his impulsr,'s. and made him unable ro ,!*cognize thc
cortscqucnces of his actions. And Dr. (iolden's..conscn,ative"

c'stimatc of Smith's cmotional agL- w:Ls cven torvcr than Dr,
Mahcr's-ten (o nvclvc.vens old.

But Dr. King di:ngrccd rvirh Dr. Mahcr,s and Dr. 6okJcn's
conclusioru. and horv thcl' arrivcd at thcm. For r.xamplc. Dr.
King l'aultcd Dr. \.[ahcr's and Dr. Goldr,'n's rctiancc on !ts.
Hammoc'k's findings. wlrich u.crc intenml ly "inconsisten[ t 1. 

"
Dr. King also rcsrified thar Dr. Golden di<ln'r properly
adtninistcr thc \\:{,-chsl'..r' ,\tluk Intclligcncc Tcsr. mraning
that. althouglr thc results of his tcst conrpared ro Dr. Gol<tcn's

appr'arcd similar. thcl' rvc'rc n()t "basically thc samc." Dr.
King alm divgreed s'ith Dr. (ioldcn's rcliancc on thc
Roschach ink bltrr rr'st. That tcst. in Dr. King's vics,. rvasn't

a valid or rcliablc one for arscssing cmotional distrcss. brain

d1's lirnction. posl-traunlat ic struss di scrrdr.r. deprcssion. <lr

poly'-substancc abusc-. And hc'thoughr Dr. Coldcn didn't cven
administer it prupcrll'.

Bascd on Dr. King's owrr cvaluaritru of Snrith. and unlikc
Dr. llahcr and Dr. Coldcn. hc "found no real cvidL.ncc

for an;- kind of focal brain damagc or an!'rhing likc rhat

by history'. by' lSnrith'sl rcpofls. or by [Smirh'sl resr dara."

expressly "tli:s.rgrcc[ingl" rvith an;- diagnosis of lhrntal or
temporal lobc damagc. lnstead of vicu'ing Smith's brain
functionin-s as "bordcrlinc" like Dr. Golden. Dr. King opincd
that Srnith "lirnctions in the low-averagr. to high-bordcrlinc
rangc of intcllccrual abiliq'." Dr. King rvcut on to rr,.sti$.

unlikc Dr. Mahcr. that Srnith didn't sufli:r fronr posr-rr:urrnaric

strcss dis('rdcr cithcr in :he present or in 1995. And nr:ithcr

Smith's substancr abusc nor an!,othcr impainncnt. Dr. King
concludcd, madc him unable to apprr.ciatc thc urongfulncs.s

of murdcring !ls. Bro<lks. enlotionally ilnmarurc to rhc

cxtcnt thc othcr doctors opined. or in cxtrcrnc cmotienal

distress. Br,'causg Dr. King disagrcrt rvith Dr. )laher's and Dr.

Colden's cr,aluatiorr mcthodologics. on rvhcthcr Smith's brain
lirnctioning s'as impaired by damagc or a mcnlal disordcr. and

on n'hc'lhcr thu allcgcd impairmcnts impactcd Srnith's mcntal

statc al lhr,' tirnr,' of thc crirnc. it rv:sn't unrcazurrablc for thc

$atr'appellatc coun tr.r tind that Dr. King's tcstimonv largcl;-

controvcrtqd Dr. \,lahcCs and Dr. Goldc.n's. Cl. r- I'rr.. :o
I:.{th :rr i(l-i(} (concltrding it *'asn't clearll.'and conr.incingll.'
\lrong tbr thc statc habcas court to find that expcn mcntal-
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health tcsrirnony \ms 'tonflictingi' rvhcrc thc petirioncr's
expen tcstificd there was t'ronal-lobe irnpairment and brain
damage. bur rhc $rare's cxperr (Dr. King) opincd rhere was no
tirontal-lohc impainncnr und the other cxpcrt's tests .\crqn't

sophisticated enough";.

a defc.ndant's cognirive dcl'c.cts at seutencing is prejudicial for
purpJscs of the Slrrc.&/alrl ineffecrivc-a$sistancc analysis."
f-rI--,r/ ar !{)5!. and tlrc pctitioner,s cxpcrt mental-hc.akh
tr,.stirnony u,0sn't crr..diblc becausr,' it conflictcd u'ith thc statc's

cxpert's tr,.stim<tn1,. l-tri. at l0-s(i. Er.c-n pu[ing asitlc thc
crcdibiliqv prublcm. s'c cxplaincd rhat a tainnindcd jurist
could still detenninc thcrc s'as rm rcasonablc probabiliry of
a differcnt r'-suh bccarrsc; ( l) "[rhc pctirioncrl had sul']icicnt
mental facultics to plan a robbcry lcnd ru.o fellow co-
defcndants in thc kidnapping. rapc. and nrurder ofhis fonncr
girltiicnd, attcmpr ro avoid dctccticrn by' authorirics thruugh
dispr;sal of the rnrrrder wcapon and acces-sori!'s. and fabricarc

an altcrnative scqucncr. of cvcnrs." t/. (cleaued up): (2) rhc

aggravating circumstanccs $Tre* signiticant. Frd ar l04r-
5t): and (3) "rvc havc hcld that the iudicarion of brain damagc
can ofteu hun the defr,'nsc as much er morc than it can hclp,"
ir i--
l--Jirl at i(t52 (clc.ancd up) (quoting i-fr.rrn.r t Se<.'r.. Dqt't
ot (\rr .l0j F.,id l .i l6. t.j29 il lrh ('ir. 2{) t 3 ) (en banc)).

Her"*. tltc'statc'appcllatc c.ourt found-and \r'e tnust prcsumc

lo bc truc..ree F:* t .S.C'. .,s lJ54(cli I t-that lhc tcstirnQnv

rrf Smith's rncntal-hcalth cxpcrts l'asnl crcdiblc bccausc it
rvas larycll.controvertcd b,v Dr. King's. Bccarrc thc tcstirnonl,
u,asnt crr,.diblc over Dr. King's couflicting (cstimon)'. "[ilr
rr'ould ... strain rcason to conclude thar [Srnirh'sl doctors'
testimon)" rvould havc had rnuclr impact" on cithcr thc
jury's or thc state trial court's rveighirrg of aggravating and

mitigating circumstances. Ili utit tttt r' .5k'), D<,It't <l' (I'rr.. 51 8

F.:;d I :2?. 1249 ( I I th Cir. 1009 ) (conclurling thc statc habcas

coun's no-prejudice ds\cnnination wasn't unrrz-sonablc rvhcrc

the petitioner's expen rnental-hcalth tc:itimony s'as "larycly

con(rovcrtccl" by rhc statc's cxpcrt): see olso l-lPr... .5(t

F..lth at i()-!0: </ lJJoncs r .Sit.1: f:la. Dt,it't o! ('orr..
s.i4 f.:id 1299. 1.114. I.ll'(llrh ('ir. l0l(rr (explaining rhat

tlrc pctilioncr's cxpsrt mcntal-hcalth tcstimon).. had "limitc.d

rnitigating valuc" q'hcrc thc statc habcas c<lurt crcditcd thc

statc cxpcrt's conflicting tcstimon)-): Ftrsustn r. .5<,r''r.. F/<r

I)t1it ril ('trr.. t l6 F.jrl l.]15. i.l4{}-41 tilrh tir. lt)ljt
(similar).

*15 Evcn if Smith's cxpcn tc$imon,v \r'asn't largel;''

contror,cnc'd b1' Dr. King's testinrony'. "thr"' jrrry could rvcll

havc bccn unrnovcd cvcn if lSrnidr's trial corrnscll .,.

prcsr'ntcd an cxpl'rt's t*itimorry about Ihisl cogrritivc. dclbcts"

tor trvo rcasons. Fil'r.,. 5( I F. {th at I () jt l. First. Srnith's choicc

to murdr'r \'ts. Brooks rvas dclibc'ratc. not an irnpulsivc'onc

*14 Smith rcsists our conclusion. Hc acknou{edgcs
"[clc'rtain spccific diagrruscs u.ere disputcd" by Dr. King.
but hc maintairx lhat hcrc $ere still 'lrumcrorrs areas

of ogreamen " amon_{ the r,'xpcrrs. likc on tlrc facrs rhar

Smith had at least somc rypc of leaming disabilit;- and

auditory pruccssing dc.ficirs. had bccn exposcd to abusc.

and rvas at lc%st somcrvhat imnature for an cighteen-y!.ar-

old in 1995. But the facr that thc cxlrcrLs agreed on son,c

things docsn't render the statc appcllatc coun's "/<ragc[0.1"

controvened linding unrcasonable . See Suith. 122 So. .id ar

2.i,{. A fainninded jurist could find rhar there u'as ar lsast

morc disar{,rcenlenr benvccn Dr. King and Smith's expr.rrs

than rhere was common ground. 4.tsllrrtrat t: llttnlqn.
Gu. I)iugnostu. Pri*tn.69,1 F.3d l:_i{}. l:-is-59 tllth ('rr.

20I2) (c'xplaining that "laryely" rneans "chicll),." 'tnosrl).,"

or "more ... than not").

C. Thc Statc.4ppellatc Court DidnT Liuruasonublv

..lppA. Stricklund 6;' Dercruining Srai/r ls Larycly

Con t ruv er I cd,ll e n tc I I I eo I t h Tb s t i nt o n y ll'a s n 7

Suhstuntially Likel.," to I'lake u Diflerenca

Bccauc thc statc appcllatc court didn't unreasonabll, hnd

that thc mcntal hcalth tcstimon)- was largcly controvened.
rvc musl appl1, AEDPA dcl'crerrce to its overall no-prcjudicc.

dctcrmination-that. considcring thc significant aggravaring

circumstances of Sntith's rnurdc'r. "prcscnting cvidcncc <lf

Smith's mental health. rvhich rvas in largc parr disputcd by

lDr. Kingl. ... rvould ha{vcl had rro impact on thc rcsult[ |

in thc prnalty phasc." .5,'rrrli. l12 So. id rr 1.19. This

dc'tc'rmination wasn't uurcaionablc.

$.c illusuatcs rvh1,. Thcrc, thc statc habcas coun dctcrmiued

thc pctitioncr thilcd to shorv Stnc't/arrl prcjudicc from his

trial counscl's failurc to invcstigatc his mcntal hcalth becausc

it "credited the testimony of thr.' [sltatc"s r'xpcn that lrhe
pctitionerl was not as intpairu'<I as his [r'xpertl rvitrtr,'sscs

:i
suggc'sted." F-/'r'r.. 5(l F.lth :rt lt.l.ll. \lt conclude<l that

thc statc habcas court's no-prcjrrdicc dctcrmination wasn't an

unrca-srrnablc application of Strickluncl.S"n ill,,l. :rt I 0-i(l-51.

'Thcrc is no pcr sc rulc that lhc lhilurc to prescnt cvidcncc of
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made in thc spur of the momcnt. Hr- had warned \ls. Brooks
that hc'd kill her if sh(. cvcr lcft him. "allays" thrcatcnerJ her
with a gun '\'heneyer" they argucd about their rclationship.
and rvorkc<l with bis cousins ro ahJucr her oncc hc dcrcidcrJ to
make good on his thrcats.

ln rcs1rcnse. Smith argucs rhat thc mental health cr.idcncc

that his trial corrnsel thited ro invcsrigatc rvas sirnitar
r-r

to that in l)P<trter '.. .\!tOollun;. 55li U.S. .i{) (2()t)g).

li
l-'Rouyiilu t. !Jeur<!. -s{5 L'.S. j'?4 (20()i). andl') llillittttt,
t Tit+'lor. Sl.) t;.S. .l(r2 (2t)0{}). Hc also comprrcs his nial
counsel's allcgcdl;.. dcficienr rnitigation invcstigation ro thar in

sclcral of otrr cascs. primarily ts rr"o,r,r'r, r. (.'onttni,;sittnsr.

.4lahtmu Dqmr;n<'nt ttl ('ttrr<,<'tit,ns. ?sli F..'id ll(..; 1 1 lrh ( ir.
i'--l

2011).f'Johrrron r .ti,t'rgrun. D0('.64.1 F..jd t)01 I I lrlr (lir.

:01 lr. f-(i,ep(r r. Si<,cktti,', I)cparrnutti ui ( orre<tittt!^t.

646 F.3d i.j:$ ( I I th ('ir. 2{} I I ). Fn, rrcll v. I[ail.6,l0 F..id

I 199( I lth ('ir l0l Il.andF ll'iiittttrts y..4llen.542 F..ld I 126

( I !th ('ir. l0()1.t.

*16 Altlrough thc Suprcmc Court concludcd in Porrer

that trial counscl's dclicicnt invcstigation of nrcntal hcalth

cr,idcncc was prcjuclicial undcr Stickland. fiat casc docs

not cstablish that thc statc appcllatc court's dctcrminati<ln

hcrc rvas unreasonable .ln Porter. the mental health cvidc'ncc-

*as "largcl-v unrebuttcd." F-iP,.,. .50 F.-lrh at I{)51 (citing
ii
l'[>ortar. 55fl U.S. at 3(r). And as Smith acknou'lcdgcs.

the mitigation evidence in DeBntcc. Johnson. Cooper,

Ferrell. aad Allen. like in Porter. rvas for the most pan

"tulncontcstcd." Thc statr' appcllatc corlrl hcrc found thc

oppositL-that Smith's mr.ntal hc'alth cvider)ce was largr.ly

controvcrtcd by Dr. King's more credible testimony. .S(s

.S)rritlr. 122 Str. -ltl at l-ili.

As for Ronrpillu and lllillions. thosc t\f,,o c&ies are evcn

further off thc mark bccausc thcl' "olTcr no guidancc" on

the qucstion wc rnust answer:'tvhcthcr lthcl statc Iappcllatcl
coun has unrea-sonabl.jv dctcrmincd that prcjudicc is lacking."

F/'ro. 50 F.4rh ar li)S6 (quotiug F(',,/.r,. S(r.j U.S. ar

102). Tltafs because Ronpilla an<l ll'illians "did not apply'

AEDPA dcferctrce to thc qucstion of prcjudicc." /r/. (quoting

l--(ir//t:r. i6i U.S. at 2tl2). Nordid Co<tperor Joha.rr.,n applY

AEDP.{ dcference to thc prcjudicc prong. k*'l:'::{',,,,p"r.

6{(r l;..ltl at !.j-s.]. li5O: FJ,,Ansorr. (r{3 F.3d ar f.i.i. So

thtrsc cascs. Jikc Rontpillu and llt//i<rzrs. ofTer no guidancc

on u,hcthcr thc statc appcllatc coun unrr'&\onRbl)' dctcrmined

prejudice is lacking. 5"" FP., 
". -5() F..llh n1 ll)56.

Smith also had "sutlicicnt mcntal faculrics" ro "lcad" his
cousins evcry stcp ofthe rvay. and to considcr horv rhc thrce

ms'n could avoid dctcction. Se rd. lclcancd up). For cxample.

hc dircctcd his cousius to drivc ro a sccludcd din road. rold

Sanjay lo stand back befiore shooting Ms- Brooks. mo\,!'d Ms.
Brooks's body arvay from tlrc road and soughr gas ro bum her

so lhal nobod;- s,ould find her. aud refuscd to takc hcr to a

hospital aftcr she said she'd reveal hr,. u'as thc shoorcr. Thcn hc

and his cousins &ove around for rnilcs plotting s'hcrc to tinish

her and leavr,. th!. borl1,. tclling his couins to go ro a relative's

Itoux bL'cause "grass wa.s amund thcrc and vying )-ou've got

to rvalk to gcl back thcrc." Hc kncrv to ditch that plan once be

saw thc'ltousc's lights rvcrc on. And. bcsidcs trying to hidc !ls.
BrookCs body in a roll of old carpct. he w'ent out of his rva;-

to concoct a story ab<lut Ms. Brooks lcaving lris lrorrse in a
maroon or rcd car-instructing Sanjay to relay the thlsc story

if anl,body askt'd and calling !ts. Bnroks's mothcr to dclivcr
thc fakc story bc'lbrc rcpcating it to !ts. Brooks's frisnd and

thc cops. C7. id (noting horv thc pctitioncr "fabricatcldl an

altcmativc scqucncc of cvcnts").

Second. the jury squld *ell har,c been rrnmovcd b1'

the mitigating esidcnce (including mcntal hcalth ancl lQ

cvidc'rrce) in light ofthc signifi cant aggravating cincumstanccs

found by thc' statc rial coun. The statr,' nial coun tbrmd

tu'o aggravalin-e factors{ l) Smith commined munJer rvhilc

cngagcrl in thc act of kidnapping in thc lirst dc'grcc: and (2) the

murdcr was particularll' hcinous. atrocious. and crucl rvhen

cornparcd to othcr ollcnscs-that "canlicxll grcat rvc'ight."

Not only was Smith's murdcr of I{s. Brtxrks "dclibcratcly

and intc'ntionally planned and canied orrt." but hc passcrl

on a chanco' to save her upon discovering she sun'ived his

gunshots. Thert he had his cousins drivc Ms. Brooks around

for milcs rvhilc Smith-irt Ms. Brooks's conscious prescncc

-discussc'd 
whr're to kill her and lcave ber bodyr And.

atlcr walliing her a htmdrcd ;-ards dou'n a dark dirt roatl al

gurrprint. Srnith trir.rd to suff<rcate hcr \r.ith a trash bag bclbrc

clousing hcr in gasolinc and bunring hr,'r alivc' in a dttntp site.

For thcsc rc'asons. thc stalc appcllatc courl's detcnnination

that Smith's cxpert mental-ltealth tcstinlon!' wasn'l

substautially likcly to changc thc rcsult of his pcnalty phasc

if prc'scnted $'asn't unreasonablc.

t.='tt -'4Jl
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ilzr'WuddTSZEi-

l\iCONCLUSIOI-

Smith has not shogn that rhe statc appcllate coun.s dccision

-daermining thar he t6'as nor prcjudiced under Srrrbt/aad
by trial counsel's failuc to iuvestigarc cvidencc of his
mcntal hc.alth problcms-\t?s bascrl on an unreasonablc
detennination of the facts or w&s an unreasonable apptication

of clearly cstablished fedcral larv'. Thus. thc districr courr
prop*rly dcnied Smith's fcdcral habeas petirion.

AFFIR}TED.

2

3

.tll Cilations

Not Rcportcd in Fed. Rpr.,2024 WL 5075281

Footnotes

Because Smith's cousins (and his father, Robert Charles Smith) share their last name wi$r him and the victim,
we refer b them by lheir first names.

FUinnAa v. Aizona.384 U.S.436 (1966).

The state trialcourt concluded Smih failed to establish three other statutory mitigating circurnstrances: (1) the
victim participated in the condud and consented b it (Ms. Brooks clsarly did not consent to being kidnapped
and murdered); (2) relatively minor participation (Smih rwas the pdmary mover in all of the events'); an<t (3)
the murder was rnotivated by exfeme duress or the substantial influence of another person (there was 'no
supporf for this factor). See Ala. Gode g 13A-$51(3F(5).

End ol Document i 2029 :ron',sor Rei;i€:s No c,a,r'' ic o.Srnal !r S Go,ier.r.,en: ','iorKs.

r\'3)l r-r\Jr
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ln the

lHntteb Ftntw 6.surt uf furwlg
frw t\e&cvent\@ircutt

No.23-13583

COREY SCHIROD SMITH,

uersfls

COMMISSIONER,

CORRECTIONS,

Petitioner-Appellant,

ALABAIvIA DBPARTMENT OF

Respondent-Appellee.

Appeal from the United Sates District Courr
for the Middle District of Alabama

D.C. Docket No. 3 : 13-cv-@437-RAFI-CWB

BeforeJononru, LucK and Ast Du, CircuitJudges.



USCA1 1 Case: 23-13583 Document: 36-1 Date Filed: o1lO7t2o2i page: 2 ol 2

Order of the Coun 23-t3r83

PER CURI.AM:

The Petition for Panel Rehearing filed by Appdlant is
DENIED.

2



No.

INTHE SUPREME COT'RT OFTHE UNITED STATES

OCTOBER TERI\{,2025

COREY SCHIROD SMITH,
Applicant,

v.

COMMISSIONER,
AI,ABAMA D EPARTIVIET.IT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondent.

PROOF OF SERVICE

I, Jerry l(ristal, a member of the Bar of this Court, certi& that on March 17,
2025, as required by Supreme Court Rule 29, I sen'ed a copy of the encloeed
Application for an Extension of Time to File a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to the
United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit on the Alabama Attorney
General's Office by depositing this document in the Unit€d States mail, with frrst-
class postage pre-paid and properly addressed to:

Henry Johnson
Steve Marshall
Office of the Attorney General of Alabama
501 Washington Avenue
Montgomery, AL 36130.
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March t7,2O25

Weitz & P.C. 10008
700 Broadway
New York, l{f 10003
Phone: (212) 558.5500
Fax (212) 84/.-646.r
Emait jkristal@weitzlux.oom

hun*l for &rey Schirod Smith
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